
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
ROWAN COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

March 20, 2006 – 5:30 PM 
J. NEWTON COHEN, SR. ROOM, ADMINISTRATION BUILDING 

 
Present:  Arnold S. Chamberlain, Chairman 

Jim Sides, Vice-Chairman 
Steve Blount, Member 

Frank Tadlock, Member 
Chad Mitchell, Member  

 
County Manager William Cowan, Clerk to the Board Carolyn Athey, County 
Attorney Jay Dees and Finance Director Leslie Heidrick were present. 

 
Chairman Chamberlain called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell provided the Invocation and also led the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
ADDITIONS/DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 
There were no additions/deletions made to the agenda.  
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
Commissioner Blount moved, Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the vote to 
approve the agenda passed unanimously. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Commissioner Mitchell moved to approve the minutes of the February 14-15, 
2006 Annual Planning Retreat.  Commissioner Blount seconded and the motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
Commissioner Blount moved, Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the vote to 
approve the February 20, 2006 minutes passed unanimously. 
 



CONSIDERATION OF THE CONSENT AGENDA 
Chairman Chamberlain opened the floor to entertain a motion for approval of the 
Consent Agenda, which consisted of the following items:   
 

A. Request for Addition of Huntington Ridge Drive, Trotters Lane, Queener’s 
Court and Flowe Drive to State Secondary Road System for Maintenance 

B. Approval of Criminal Justice Partnership Program Application for 
Continuation of Implementation Funding for 2006-07 

C. Approval of Proclamation for Child Abuse Prevention Month 
D. Approval of Resolution to Establish Policy for Approval & Opening of 

Closed Session Minutes & General Accounts 
E. Set Public Hearing for April 3, 2006 to Consider Adoption of 3-year 

Update to Solid Waste Management Plan 
F. Approval for Retiring Master Deputy John G. Lawson, Sr. to Retain Official 

Duty Weapon 
G. Approval of Proclamation for Confederate History and Heritage Month 
H. Set Public Hearing for April 3, 2006 for Consideration of Rural Operating 

Assistance Program (ROAP) 
I. Set Quasi-Judicial Hearing for April 3, 2006 for Parallel Conditional Use 

Request (PCUR)-02-06  
J. Set Quasi-Judicial Hearing for April 3, 2006 for Z 23-99 and CUP 17-99 
K. Set Quasi-Judicial Hearing for April 3, 2006 for CUP 02-06 
L. Set Public Hearing for April 3, 2006 for Special Consideration of Proposed 

Road Name of Crowder Dixon Road 
M. Set Public Hearing for April 3, 2006 for Unanimous Petition for Proposed 

Road Name of Sweet Pea Lane 
N. Set Public Hearing for April 3, 2006 for Special Consideration of Proposed 

Road Name of Miners Way 
O. Teachers Classroom Supply Program – Final Update 

 
Commissioner Sides said he would like to comment on several of the Consent 
Agenda items: 
 

• Commissioner Sides questioned the grant award amount for Item B.  The 
Clerk reported the continuation grant amount to be $123,093. 

• Commissioner Sides referred to Item D and expressed concern with the 
language “periodic review.”  Commissioner Sides said he would like the 
timeframe clarified for approval of the minutes by the Commissioners as 
well as the timeframe for release of the minutes.   

 
Chairman Chamberlain clarified that periodically “means as soon as 
possible.”  
 
Commissioner Sides said the Closed Session minutes should be 
approved no later than the next meeting so that it did not appear the 
Board was “holding anybody up.” 

 2



County Attorney Jay Dees explained that the Resolution addressed 2 
separate issues, 1) approval of Closed Session minutes, which could be 
done as soon as the Clerk could have them prepared; and 2) the quarterly 
review to create a sense of regularity for review of approved minutes that 
remain closed due to a pending issue. 
 
Commissioner Sides said he would like for the Closed Session minutes to 
be approved by the Board at the next scheduled meeting, or no later than 
the following meeting.   
 
Commissioner Blount suggested adding that the Closed Session minutes 
and general account would be approved “no more than 30 days later” and 
he confirmed with the Clerk that this would provide ample time for her to 
prepare the Closed Session minutes. 
 
Commissioner Sides moved to approve the Resolution to Establish Policy 
for Approval & Opening of Closed Session Minutes and General Accounts 
with the one change that the Board approve the Closed Session Minutes 
and General Account no later than 30 days after that Closed Session.  
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Blount and passed 
unanimously. 
 

• Commissioner Sides referred to Item G and read the Proclamation for 
Confederate History & Heritage Month.   

• Commissioner Sides questioned Item O regarding the update on the 
Teachers Classroom Supply Program and he asked if any bills had been 
submitted/approved after the deadline.  Finance Director Leslie Heidrick 
said yes, there had been people who had come in on the last day and that 
Staff had worked with them. 

 
Commissioner Mitchell moved for approval of the Consent Agenda.  The motion 
was seconded by Commissioner Blount. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain read a portion of the Proclamation for Child Abuse 
Prevention Month, which was listed in the Consent Agenda as Item C. 
 
Upon being put to a vote, the motion on the floor passed unanimously. 
 
UPDATE ON ROWAN-SALISBURY SCHOOLS CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 
Ed Watson of Construction Control Corporation and Jim Christy from Rowan-
Salisbury Schools provided the Board with a brief update on the school 
construction projects. 
 
Mr. Christy invited the Commissioners to tour the new Jesse Carson High School 
on Monday, March 27th at 2:30 pm.   
 

 3



CONSIDER DISPOSITION OF SCHOOL PROPERTY 
Jim Christy from Rowan-Salisbury Schools (RSS) said the Board of Education 
had received a request from Ronnie Morris to purchase a small parcel of 
property.  Mr. Christy said that RSS was agreeable to the sale. 
 
Mr. Christy explained that in accordance with G.S. 115C-518, RSS was offering 
the property to the Commissioners for a fair market price or at a price to be 
negotiated between the two boards. 
 
Mr. Christy said if the Commissioners did not wish to purchase the property, the 
Board of Education intended to proceed with the disposition of the property. 
 
Commissioner Sides moved, Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the vote to 
allow the schools to sell the property passed unanimously. 
 
TOWN CREEK SEWER PROJECT 
County Manager William Cowan said he and County Attorney Jay Dees had met 
with City of Salisbury Staff and their attorney to address concerns with some of 
the language in the proposed agreement.  Mr. Cowan said most of the changes 
were redlined and centered around Item #4.  Mr. Cowan pointed out that the 
County had been asked to put $400,000 into the Project Account and that the 
amount had been changed to $500,000.  Mr. Cowan explained that the change 
allowed for additional monies up front but did not change the project total. 
 
Mr. Dees said one of the primary objectives was to create a Project Team 
consisting of the County and City Managers, Project Manager, which is Salisbury 
Rowan Utilities (SRU), or their designees.  Mr. Dees said the construction 
account was also an interest bearing account.  Mr. Dees said change orders 
would require consultation with the Project Team.  Mr. Dees said there is a 
contingency fund in place to be used for change orders with the construction 
management team.  Mr. Dees said change orders that would change the scope 
of the project or the overall total cost would have to come back for approval. 
 
Mr. Dees referred to paragraph 5c and discussed the term “reasonably.”  Mr. 
Dees explained that if SRU continued with the project over the County’s 
objection, they would have to pay without the County’s contribution.  Mr. Dees 
said if the County were to unreasonably object to an issue, then it would also run 
the risk of having to pay.  Mr. Dees said the language did not change even 
though a request had been made to address it. 
 
Commissioner Blount requested clarification of Item 4b (2).  Mr. Dees said there 
had been some question about when the County would pay and that the original 
draft had asked for the County to pay funds immediately.  Mr. Dees said a 
schedule was created to go with the initial payment to cover engineering fees in 
paragraph b (1).  Mr. Dees said SRU had already paid engineers to do some 
work before the agreement was finalized. 

 4



Commissioner Mitchell asked if the only payments to occur would be the 
$500,000 and a second payment of $2.75 million?  Mr. Cowan responded that 
this was estimated and that the County planned to debt-finance the project.  Mr. 
Cowan said this could not be done until bids were in hand.  Mr. Cowan confirmed 
that there was a contingency of $507,000 built into the $6,500,000. 
 
Commissioner Sides questioned the project completion date and Mr. Cowan 
responded October 2008. 
 
Commissioner Sides asked why SRU could not periodically bill the County as 
opposed to the County having to immediately put $2.75 million into the account?  
Mr. Dees replied that SRU wanted to draw directly from the account.   
 
Commissioner Tadlock felt it would be best to borrow the funds at one time as 
opposed to putting the money into the account in advance.  Mr. Cowan explained 
that the Local Government Commission required the total amount of funds to 
satisfy the bid documents to be borrowed at one time.  Mr. Cowan reported that 
the agreement is written so that if there were any proceeds left over, they would 
be shared equally. 
 
Commissioner Sides discussed past projects regarding SRU and said he felt the 
County should use the sewer project as a bargaining tool to establish better rates 
for Salisbury’s customers.  Commissioner Sides said the County was assisting 
the City’s infrastructure by increasing their water/sewer systems for future 
annexations. 
 
Commissioner Blount moved to adopt the agreement as presented followed by a 
second from Chairman Chamberlain.  The motion carried 4-1 with Commissioner 
Sides dissenting. 
 
Commissioner Blount moved, Chairman Chamberlain seconded and the vote to 
approve the Resolution Authorizing and Directing the Execution and 
Implementation of the Agreement for the Town Creek Basin Sewer 
Improvements passed 4-1 with Commissioner Sides dissenting. 
 
PRESENTATION OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE GRANT 
Randy Harrell, Executive Director of the Economic Development Commission 
(EDC) presented a proposed Investment Grant Program. 
 
Mr. Harrell said the presentation was a follow up from the Board’s Annual 
Planning Retreat.  Mr. Harrell said the program could be used as a tool in 
attracting industries and also for assisting existing industries with expansions.   
 
Mr. Harrell said having a program in place would provide the opportunity to 
respond in a timely manner as to what Rowan County would do to help a 

 5



company expand and offset its costs.  Mr. Harrell said most counties in the 
region have a plan in place. 
 
Mr. Harrell reviewed the 2 changes in the proposal, 1) companies that under-
report their assets, and 2) minimum total project investment of $3 million instead 
of $5 million. 
 
Mr. Harrell requested the Board’s consideration of the incentive policy for 
companies that wish to locate in Rowan County. 
 
In response to a query from Commissioner Mitchell, Mr. Harrell confirmed that 
the first bullet in the handout did not include revaluation. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell referred to page 3 and the blank date.  Mr. Harrell said 
the date would have to be determined by the Commissioners and the Tax Office. 
 
Commissioner Blount discussed under-reported assets and said he felt it was the 
intent of the Board that the incentive grant would not apply to the portion that was 
under-reported.  Commissioner Blount said he would leave it to the County 
Attorney to make this modification.  Mr. Harrell responded, “We have made that 
change.  It is not in the information that you have but I have made that change 
and I’m sure that Jay will take an opportunity to look at that.” 
 
Commissioner Blount said he had attended the EDC Board meeting when the 
plan was debated and adopted.  Commissioner Blount said several items were 
raised regarding spec buildings and whether the incentive policy would apply to 
them.  Commissioner Blount said he understood that the EDC Board planned to 
review this and come back to the Commissioners with periodic recommendations 
on modifications of that nature.  Commissioner Blount said, “So this will be a 
living document for some period of time until we get it exactly right.”  
 
Commissioner Mitchell requested clarification on the under-reporting issue.  
Commissioner Mitchell asked if the under-reporting changed the grant from a  
Level II to a Level I grant, would the company drop from 80% to 75%?  
Commissioner Mitchell said if the under-reporting caused the company not to 
qualify, the company would lose everything.  Mr. Harrell said, “If they didn’t report 
it, they would not qualify for that grant.” 
 
Commissioner Sides said Progress Energy was found to have under-reported a 
large amount of equipment.  Commissioner Sides said no one should profit by 
dishonesty and that if a company under-reports, the entire grant should be 
repaid.  Commissioner Sides said he was not in favor of incentives. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain referred to the first bullet listed on page 1 of the handout.  
Chairman Chamberlain questioned rolling stock, specifically the airport.  
Chairman Chamberlain gave an example of someone purchasing a hangar and 

 6



bringing in $15 million in airplanes.  Mr. Harrell said he would have to defer to the 
question to the Attorney.  Mr. Harrell said it was stated in the plan that rolling 
stock did not comply.  Mr. Harrell said he did not know if an airplane was 
considered rolling stock and that perhaps the Board should have a separate plan 
for the airport.   
 
Chairman Chamberlain referred to page 3 and said he preferred for the Level I 
grant category remain at $5 million. 
 
Mr. Cowan said the Board should decide on a date to insert on page 3.  Mr. 
Cowan said taxes become delinquent after January 6th and he suggested 
inserting terminology that would be based on payment 30 days after property 
taxes are paid in full for that year. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain moved to accept and pass the plan and keep the  
Level I at $5 million and not $3 million; to incorporate the terminology suggested 
by the Manager regarding 30 days; and the modification of the under-reporting.  
Commissioner Mitchell seconded the motion, which carried 4-1 with 
Commissioner Sides dissenting. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF INVESTMENT GRANT FOR FOOD LION EXPANSION 
Teross Young, Director of Governmental Relations for Food Lion and Glen 
Dixon, Senior Vice President for Store Development discussed an expansion of 
Food Lion operations. 
 
Mr. Young provided a power point presentation as he reviewed the company’s 
subsidiaries, employees, community commitment and expansion plans.  Mr. 
Young explained that Food Lion was approaching its  50th anniversary and that 
its current facilities were overcrowded and outdated. 
 
Using the power point presentation, Mr. Young revealed drawings for the new 
facility and he also discussed the timeline for renovations.  Mr. Young said the 
company planned a $35 million investment. 
 
Mr. Dixon added that Food Lion remains committed to the community. 
 
Commissioner Blount expressed pleasure in having Food Lion present.  
Commissioner Blount said the company had grown from a small local store to a 
national chain.  Commissioner Blount said he hoped the expansion would 
provide the company with another 50 years in Rowan County. 
 
Commissioner Sides said he did not want Food Lion to leave but he felt it was 
wrong for taxpayers to foot the bill for incentives for private business.   
 
Chairman Chamberlain said he also did not like incentives but that he 
appreciated Food Lion and would lay his philosophy aside. 

 7



Commissioner Blount moved to schedule a public hearing at the next regularly 
scheduled meeting at a time designated by the Clerk for the purpose of 
approving an incentive grant per the terms of the incentive program that the 
Board just adopted.  (Commissioner Blount was referring to the Economic 
Development Incentive Grant approved prior to the presentation by Food Lion).   
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Mitchell and carried 4-1 with 
Commissioner Sides dissenting. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain called for a short break at 6:45 pm.   
 
Chairman Chamberlain reconvened the meeting at 6:55 pm. 
 
UPDATE FOR HOME PROGRAM PARTICIPATION 
Ed Muire, Rowan County Planning Manager and Gary Wilson from Benchmark 
provided a handout and updated the Board regarding Rowan County’s 
participation in the HOME consortium. 
 
Mr. Muire recalled that the Board had originally been told it would receive 
$258,000 from the consortium and he said the amount had been reduced to 
$100,000.  Mr. Muire said Rowan County would be responsible for a 25% match 
in the amount of $25,000. 
 
Mr. Muire said there were several procedural items the Board would need to 
address if it wished to participate, including naming someone to represent the 
County at the consortium level.  
 
Mr. Muire introduced Gary Wilson, associated with Benchmark, Inc., who 
currently administers the Rowan County Scattered Site Housing Program.   
 
Mr. Wilson referred to the handout and described the design as tentative.  Mr. 
Wilson recommended that the Board join the consortium and schedule a public 
hearing for the next board meeting.   
 
Commissioner Sides discussed the presentation regarding the HOME Program 
that had been made to the Board at its annual Planning Retreat.  Commissioner 
Sides explained that the consortium had met the same night of the presentation 
and had “arbitrarily decided that it would not be funded based on population.”  
Commissioner Sides said the County had asked but not received “a real good 
answer” as to why the funding amount was reduced.  Commissioner Sides said 
the County had also been unable to obtain other information, including the 
bylaws and procedures.  Commissioner Sides said he was disturbed to the point 
of wanting to file a formal complaint with HUD. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell moved to set the public hearing.  The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Blount and passed unanimously. 
 

 8



APPROVAL OF FUNDING FOR RCCC PROJECT 
County Manager William Cowan discussed the bond funds for construction of a 
new classroom facility on the north campus of Rowan-Cabarrus Community 
College (RCCC). 
 
Mr. Cowan asked the Board to consider voting to commit to $3,659,365 over a 3-
year period for the facility. 
 
Commissioner Sides moved, Commissioner Blount seconded and the vote to 
provide a written commitment for the project passed unanimously. 
 
CONSIDER APPROVAL OF CONTRACT FOR LIGHTHOUSE CARE 
SERVICES, INC. 
County Attorney Jay Dees reviewed the proposed lease for Lighthouse Care 
Services, Inc.  Mr. Dees said he had added a provision for Lighthouse Care 
Services, Inc. to maintain liability insurance.  Mr. Dees said the agency currently 
does not have a general liability policy but was in the process of being quoted 
rates. 
 
Commissioner Sides moved, Chairman Chamberlain seconded and the vote to 
approve the lease with the requirement that the agency acquire proper liability 
insurance passed unanimously. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain said if the insurance was not obtained within a 
reasonable amount of time, the agency would need to move. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF FAMILY SUBDIVISION WAIVER REQUEST 
Rowan County Planning Manager Ed Muire provided the staff report regarding 
the Family Subdivision Waiver (FSW) request.   Mr. Muire explained that Jeff 
Horton had submitted a request for consideration of a family subdivision waiver 
to allow for the further subdivision of Tract 5 of Lake Pointe. 
 
Mr. Muire referred to Attachment 3 in the Staff Report, which highlighted the tract 
to be conveyed to a family member outside of County’s definition of family.  Mr. 
Muire said the family member was a cousin and that the Board could waive the 
requirements. 
 
Mr. Muire said Staff recommends that the Board allow the highlighted tract to be 
conveyed.  
 
Commissioner Sides moved, Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the vote to 
approve the request as presented passed unanimously. 
 
 
 

 9



PUBLIC HEARING FOR CUP-01-06, REQUEST FROM EAST ROWAN LITTLE 
LEAGUE 
Chairman Chamberlain read the Chairman’s Speech (Exhibit A) and declared the 
public hearing for CUP-01-06 to be in session.  Chairman Chamberlain said the 
hearing would focus on an application submitted by East Rowan Little League for 
property located at 375 Fleetwood Drive, Salisbury, NC.  Chairman Chamberlain 
said the application was for the construction of a little league ball field complex 
on a portion of Tax Parcel 624-012 in the Rural Agricultural (RA) district. 
 
The Clerk swore in those wishing to provide testimony in the case. 
 
Ed Muire, Rowan County Planning Manager provided the Staff Report (Exhibit B) 
and said the request from East Rowan Little League was for a ball field complex.  
Mr. Muire used a power point presentation (Exhibit C) to depict the site and 
surrounding area.  
 
Mr. Muire said the application was subject to the general evaluation criteria and 
specific conditional use criteria in the County’s Zoning Ordinance.   
 
Mr. Muire discussed a Checklist for Review of Conditional Use Permits (Exhibit 
D).  Mr. Muire said the checklist (Exhibit D) provided the Board with an idea of 
what issues to consider during the hearing.  Mr. Muire referred to the General 
Evaluation Criteria in the checklist (Exhibit D) and said if the Board found that an 
item had not been met, the Board could add additional conditions that would 
bring the item into compliance.  Mr. Muire said the Specific Evaluation Criteria 
are listed in the ordinance and must be met by the applicant.  Mr. Muire said the 
Required Findings listed in the checklist (Exhibit D) were self-explanatory.  Mr. 
Muire said the checklist (Exhibit D) was to aid the Board in evaluating the 
applications.  
 
Mr. Muire continued with the power point presentation (Exhibit C) as he 
discussed the General Review Criteria listed in the Staff Report (Exhibit B): 
 

• Adequate transportation access to the site exists.  Mr. Muire 
explained that St. Luke’s Church Road and Oddie Road were classified 
as a minor thoroughfare in Salisbury’s 1997 Thoroughfare Plan.  Mr. 
Muire pointed out the design capacity of the road was 9,000 and 
increased to 11,000 heading north on Oddie Road.  Mr. Muire said the 
average daily traffic in 2004 was estimated 2200 on St. Luke’s Church 
Road and 1200 along Oddie Road.  Mr. Muire said these estimates were 
significantly below the design capacities at this time. 

 
Using the power point presentation (Exhibit C), Mr. Muire showed the 
current access to the site on Fleetwood Drive off of Oddie Road.  Mr. 
Muire said the site plan, included as Attachment 1 in the Staff Report 

 10



(Exhibit B), shows a 50-foot right of way and a 20-foot travel surface.  Mr. 
Muire also pointed out the entrance to the site and an existing tree line. 

 
Mr. Muire said based on Staff’s opinion the current access was not 
sufficient for the proposed use.   

 
Mr. Muire said an issue that compounded the problem was the southern 
view along Oddie Road from Fleetwood Drive as it had limited site 
distance.  Mr. Muire used the power point presentation (Exhibit C) as he 
explained that the DOT had indicated the applicant could not get a 
driveway permit in this location.  Mr. Muire said Fleetwood Drive needed 
to be relocated or the speed limit must be reduced.  Mr. Muire said the 
DOT had discussed these issues with the applicant and both were 
possible. 

 
• The use will not significantly detract from the character of the 

surrounding area.  Mr. Muire highlighted the uses in the area, which 
included industrial sites for McKenzie Taxidermy and Ketchie Marble, 
several manufactured home parks, and three schools.  Mr. Muire said 
these operations are used to traffic and school-related events and 
therefore not out of character with the area. 

 
• Hazardous safety conditions will not result.  Mr. Muire referred again 

to the site plan (Exhibit E) and said there was a significant right-of-way, 
which Duke Power had jurisdiction over.  Mr. Muire said Duke Power had 
reviewed the application, submitted comments and was in general 
agreement with the proposal. 

 
• Excessive traffic or parking problems will not result.  Mr. Muire said 

excessive traffic or parking problems would not result.   
 

Mr. Muire discussed the Comparable Land Uses and Associated Average 
Daily Traffic (ADT) chart that was listed in the Staff Report (Exhibit B).  Mr. 
Muire said that anticipated traffic generated by Phase 1 of the proposal is 
330 trips per day and 286 for Phase 2. 
 

• The use will not create significant visual impacts for adjoining 
properties or passersby.  Mr. Muire said due to its location at the end of 
Fleetwood Drive, the facility will be a destination and should not present 
visual impacts to passersby.  Mr. Muire said existing vegetation 
supplemented by Type A screening and buffering along the perimeter of 
the facility should help eliminate visual effects to adjoining developed 
properties. 

 
Under the Specific Criteria listed in the Staff Report (Exhibit B), Mr. Muire 
highlighted the following: 

 11



• Buffering.  Mr. Muire mentioned that the site plan provided for a 25’ buffer 
along the perimeter of the facility and exceeded the county zoning 
ordinance standard of 20’. 

• Nonprofit status.  Mr. Muire said Attachment 2 of the Staff Report 
(Exhibit B) was documentation from local attorney James Carter regarding 
the East Rowan Little League’s application for 501(C)(3) status as a non-
profit organization. 

• Lighting.  Mr. Muire said the pole height would be 60’ with the exception 
of one pole in the southwest corner. 
 

Mr. Muire said Planning Staff supports the application provided the following 
conditions are met: 
1. Compliance with all items, improvements and conditions on the site plan 
provided by the applicant. 
2. Issues regarding the Fleetwood Drive entrance satisfied with NC DOT prior to 
initiating construction of the site.  Specifically, relocate the Fleetwood Drive 
entrance or have Oddie Road speed limit reduced to acquire proper site distance 
based on speed limit. 
3.  Provide necessary upgrades to Fleetwood Drive as determined by NC DOT 
and have NC DOT accept into maintenance system prior to initiating construction 
of the site. 
4.  Submit and obtain approval of a sedimentation and erosion control plan prior 
to initiating construction. 
5.  Obtain approval from Duke Power for work within their right-of-way. 
6.  Obtain property and liability insurance for facility pursuant to Little League 
International standards. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell noted that the project was divided into 2 phases and he 
asked if all of the work would have to be completed within this time frame and Mr. 
Muire said no, as long as the project is in progress. 
 
Brad Bost, the applicant and also Vice President of East Rowan Little League 
said he saw the project as an improvement to the County.  Mr. Bost said the 
organization was “making do” with the current sites and he explained how 
families with more than one child were split between two sites during games.  Mr. 
Bost said the proposed facility would be a major improvement for all families to 
utilize the parks and he said the site was a benefit based on its proximity to the 
schools.  Mr. Bost expressed hope that the Board would approve the project. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain asked Mr. Bost if he had any problem with Staff’s 
recommendations and Mr. Bost responded no. 
 
Commissioner Sides asked if the DOT had indicated if they preferred to reduce 
the speed limit or have the driveway relocated.  Mr. Bost responded that it would 
save the organization a tremendous amount of money if the driveway could be 
left.  Mr. Bost asked Mr. Muire to pull up the road in the power point presentation 

 12



(Exhibit C).  Mr. Bost pointed out two curves in opposite directions, one being a 
45 mph curve and the other 35 mph curve.  Mr. Bost said the speed limit 
between the curves is 55 mph.  Mr. Bost said it made more sense to lower the 
speed limit but until they officially owned the property, they could not petition the 
DOT to do this.  Mr. Bost said if the application was approved, the organization 
hoped to purchase the property and ask for speed limit reduction.  Mr. Bost said 
it would be safer in general to have the speed limit reduced to 45 mph. 
 
Commissioner Sides asked if the County could assist the organization in getting 
the speed limit reduced?  County Attorney Jay Dees responded that the County 
could make contact with the DOT. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain said if the Board approved the application, it would be 
imperative that Fleetwood Drive be accepted by NC DOT into the maintenance 
system prior to initiating construction of the site.   
 
Chairman Chamberlain opened the public hearing to entertain citizen comments 
regarding CUP-01-06. 
 

• Pam Hilton of Fish Pond Road said she did not live close enough to the 
property for noise to bother her.  Ms. Hilton said her property adjoins the 
proposed site and she asked the Board what it planned to do to protect 
her property.  Ms. Hilton said she did not want her property to be taken 
over by trash, four-wheelers and trespassers. 

 
Chairman Chamberlain informed Ms. Hilton that she would probably hear the 
answers to her questions as the Board discussed the issue. 
 
With no other citizens wishing to address the Board, Chairman Chamberlain 
closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Sides moved for approval of the permit along with the Staff 
Recommendations.  Commissioner Sides felt that based on the type of facility 
that the league would create, there would not be four-wheelers on the ball fields, 
and the application stated that a 25’ buffer would be created compared to the 
required 20’ buffer.  Commissioner Sides said historically the organization kept 
its facilities clean and he felt it would be a better situation than if the land were 
left vacant.  Commissioner Sides repeated his motion for approval of the project 
with the Staff Recommendations.  Chairman Chamberlain seconded the motion. 
 
In response to a query from Commissioner Mitchell, Commissioner Blount 
pointed out the approximate location of Ms. Hilton’s property.  Commissioner 
Mitchell asked if the existing buffer of trees would remain and Chairman 
Chamberlain said yes. 
 

 13



Chairman Chamberlain addressed Ms. Hilton’s concerns and said the Little 
League organization would probably be one “of the best neighbors you’re ever 
going to have.”  Chairman Chamberlain said he didn’t anticipate problems with 
trespassers.  Chairman Chamberlain encouraged Ms. Hilton to inform Staff if she 
did encounter problems. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain reviewed the General Evaluation Criteria and Specific 
Evaluation Criteria listed in checklist (Exhibit D). 
 
Commissioner Blount moved, Chairman Chamberlain seconded and the vote to 
approve Motion #1 in the checklist (Exhibit D) passed unanimously.  Chairman 
Chamberlain read the motion as follows:  The development of the property in 
accordance with the proposed conditions will not materially endanger the 
public health or safety.   
 
Commissioner Blount moved, Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the vote to 
approve Motion #2 in the checklist (Exhibit D) passed unanimously.  The motion 
was read by Chairman Chamberlain as follows:  That the development of the 
property in accordance with the proposed conditions will not substantially 
injure the value of adjoining or abutting property, or that the development 
is a public necessity. 
 
Commissioner Blount moved, Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the vote to 
approve Motion #3 in the checklist (Exhibit D) passed unanimously.  The motion 
was read by Chairman Chamberlain as follows:  That the location and 
character of the development in accordance with conditions will be in 
general harmony with the area in which it is located and in general 
conformity with any adopted county plans. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell moved to approve CUP-01-06 with the Staff 
recommended conditions 1 through 6.  The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Blount and passed unanimously. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain called for a break at 7:45 pm. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain reconvened the meeting at 7:50 pm.   
 
BUDGET MATTERS 
Commissioner Sides said he had spent a considerable amount of time thinking 
about the County’s budget situation and budget discussions that had taken place 
during the Board’s Planning Retreat.   
 
Commissioner Sides said the Board had reviewed millions of dollars in building 
projects and he expressed concern that Board members might have left the 
retreat with a desire to complete all of the projects within a short timeframe. 
 

 14



Commissioner Sides said he would like for the Board to provide Staff with better 
direction as to what type of budget the Board wished to see.   
 
Commissioner Sides discussed the budget session from last year and said the 
Board had been chided for dipping into the fund balance for $5 million.  
Commissioner Sides reported that the $5 million wasn’t spent and would be 
available for this year.   
 
Commissioner Sides said he wanted to see the Board provide direction that it 
was looking for a tax cut.  Commissioner Sides said he would like for Staff to 
come back with a budget that represents a 3-cent tax cut for next fiscal year. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell said he would like to see a tax cut and that he would like 
to see a budget presented, not necessarily with the directive of a 3-cent tax cut 
but with a tax cut being utilized as an objective.  Commissioner Mitchell said he 
would like for Staff to bring back a budget that accomplishes the needs while 
keeping a tax cut as a potential goal.  Commissioner Mitchell said he didn’t have 
a problem with a 3-cent tax cut budget coming back to the Board but he said he 
would like to see what it would cost the County in terms of projects being 
delayed.  Commissioner Mitchell said he would like to see a 3-cent tax cut 
budget compared to a current rate budget in order to compare them.  
 
Commissioner Tadlock said he would like to see tax cut budget but that he would 
like to see what the cut would mean not only to this year but next year.  
Commissioner Tadlock said if the County got “too far behind this year then it’s 
going to cost too much in the future to catch up.”  Commissioner Tadlock said he 
would like to look at 2 or 3 plans before committing to a tax cut budget.   
 
Commissioner Blount said he was always in favor of a tax cut if the Board could 
find a way to do it.  Commissioner Blount said if the Board wanted to continue to 
provide services at the same level, you must pay for them.  Commissioner Blount 
pointed out that due to increases in fuel prices, etc., the cost of providing 
services at last year’s level would also increase.  Commissioner Blount said the 
County had experienced unexpected growth in sales tax revenue this year, which 
had prevented the use of the fund balance.  Commissioner Blount said it was the 
Commissioners responsibility and not the County Manager’s to determine what 
services should be cut/reduced and what projects not to proceed with.  
Commissioner Blount said the budget for last year was the largest in Rowan 
County’s history.  Commissioner Blount said it would be nice to cut taxes but he 
felt that it was misleading to pick an arbitrary number and ask the County 
Manager to build a budget around that number.   
Commissioner Blount discussed zero-based budgeting and said there tends to 
be more public support for this type of budgeting.  Commissioner Blount said he 
had compared tax rates across the state and that Rowan County was in the 
average for this region.  Commissioner Blount finished by saying he felt the 

 15



Board should decide what services it wanted to provide the citizens and find a 
way to do it. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain said he had thought the Board had given the County 
Manager a directive at the retreat to come back with a proposed no-tax increase 
budget.  Chairman Chamberlain asked the County Manager to come back with 
what he thought the Board needed to do.  Chairman Chamberlain emphasized 
that he personally did not want the Manager to lobby for any particular plan.   
 
Commissioner Blount provided the Board with a handout pertaining to school 
funding levels.  Commissioner Blount highlighted the information in the handout, 
specifically the funding comparison for counties only.  Commissioner Blount 
suggested that the Board increase its current expense funding level by $657,408 
in this year’s budget in an attempt to get back to the state average for counties 
over the next 2 years.   
 
Chairman Chamberlain said he agreed with Commissioner Blount regarding most 
of his comments.  Chairman Chamberlain expressed optimism with the new 
leadership in the Rowan-Salisbury Schools and said he was willing for the 
County to step up. 
 
BUDGET AMENDMENTS 
Chairman Chamberlain read a memo regarding a donation for a chicken house at 
Dan Nicholas Park.  The chicken house is to be named “Steffi’s Barnyard” and 
the donation was made in memory of Steffi Poteat by her grandparents, parents 
and brother.   
 
Commissioner Mitchell moved, Commissioner Blount seconded and the vote to 
approve the budget amendments as presented passed unanimously. 
 
BOARD APPOINTMENTS 
City of Salisbury Planning Board 
At the request of Commissioner Sides, the Board agreed to defer the 
appointment of Tommy Hairston as an extra-territorial member to the City of 
Salisbury’s Planning Board until the next meeting.   
 
Rowan County Zoning Board of Adjustments 
Chairman Chamberlain announced the expiring terms for board members Ted 
James, Lois Elliott and David Collins.  Chairman Chamberlain asked that the 
announcement be considered as a call for applications to this board. 
 
Historic Landmark Commission 
Commissioner Tadlock nominated Douglas R. Linn for a 3-year term to expire on 
December 31, 2009.  The nomination passed unanimously. 
 
 

 16



Rowan County Nursing Home Advisory Committee 
Commissioner Blount moved to accept the resignations of Betty Sunding and 
Bob Wood.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Rowan County Parks & Recreation Commission 
Commissioner Blount moved to accept the resignation of Dr. George Everhart.  
The motion passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner Tadlock moved to appoint Dennis Rogers to fill the remainder of 
Dr. Everhart’s term, which will expire on December 31, 2006. 
 
Rowan County Special Populations Advisory Board 
Commissioner Blount nominated Cheryl Olson, William Broadway, Mary 
Showfety and Cassandra Beaver for reappointment for 2-year terms, expiring on 
March 31, 2008.  The nomination carried unanimously. 
 
Salisbury-Rowan Community Service Council 
Commissioner Tadlock moved to appoint Bill Godair for a 2-year term, expiring 
on March 31, 2008.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Juvenile Crime Prevention Council 
Commissioner Blount nominated Mark Wilhelm for reappointment for a 2-year 
term that will expire on March 31, 2008.  The nomination passed unanimously.     
 
Rowan County Housing Authority 
Chairman Chamberlain said Sara Potts has been named Executive Director for 
the Rowan County Housing Authority and it is mandatory that she must resign 
from this board. 
 
Commissioner Tadlock moved to accept Ms. Pott’s resignation.  The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Mitchell and passed unanimously. 
 
Commissioner Blount nominated Doug Jones to fill the remainder of Ms. Potts 
term, which expires September 30, 2009.  The nomination passed unanimously. 
 
CONSIDER APPROVAL OF DRAFT FOR T-HANGAR LEASE 
County Attorney Jay Dees discussed the proposed t-hangar lease provided just 
prior to the meeting.  Mr. Dees pointed out the highlighted changes on page 2 
and explained that the lease was being presented based on recommendations by 
the Airport Committee.  The committee was formed at the Board’s Planning 
Retreat and included Commissioners Mitchell and Blount.   
 
In response to a query from Commissioner Sides, Mr. Dees said the only 
schedule for purchasing the hangars was the schedule sheet that had been 
previously approved by the Board. 
 

 17



Commissioner Sides raised the issue of the lessee defaulting on the lease to 
simply get out of the contract.  Commissioner Sides pointed out the potential for 
the County to pay more for the hangar than what the lessee had originally 
invested. 
 
Mr. Dees said the Board could limit what it paid someone when they were in 
default.  
 
Commissioner Blount suggested that the contract be revised so that “we pay him 
the amount that he paid for the hangar.”   
 
Mr. Dees suggested that it should be the lesser of fair market value or the 
amount paid in the original closing.  Commissioner Sides said he could accept 
this. 
 
For the benefit of those in the audience Chairman Chamberlain explained that 
the Airport Committee members were Commissioner Mitchell and Blount, Mr. 
Dees, County Manager William Cowan and Ken Deal, Director of Administration. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell moved out of committee with the proposed changes, 
followed by a second from Commissioner Blount.  The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
APPROVAL OF FINANCING PROPOSAL FOR FY 2006 VEHICLES 
Finance Director Leslie Heidrick reviewed the proposal for financing of fiscal year 
2006 vehicles.  Ms. Heidrick said the proposal was for the purchase of two (2) 
ambulances for Rowan County Emergency Services and fourteen (14) vehicles 
for the Sheriff’s Department. 
 
Ms. Heidrick reported that the amount to be financed was $460,000 for a term of 
3 years.  Ms. Heidrick also reported that 9 bids were received. 
 
The Finance Department recommended that the Board accept the low bid from 
RBC Centura – interest rate of 3.65%, total cost of $488,852, excluding legal 
fees. 
 
Commissioner Blount moved to accept the low bid from RBC Centura and to also 
approve the Resolution, Declaration and Budget Amendment.   
Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
APPROVAL OF FINANCING PROPOSAL FOR VOICE OVER INTERNET 
PROTOCOL (VoIP) SYSTEM 
Finance Director Leslie Heidrick discussed the financing proposal for the 
purchase and installation of a Voice Over Internet Protocol (VoIP) System.   
 

 18



Ms. Heidrick said the amount to be financed was $669,000 and the term was for 
4 years.  Nine (9) bids were received.   
 
The Finance Department recommended that the Board accept the low bid from 
RBC Centura – interest rate of 3.66%, total cost of $723,764, excluding legal 
fees.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell moved to accept the low bid from RBC Centura and to 
also approve the Resolution, Declaration and Budget Amendment.   
Commissioner Blount seconded and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
Chairman Chamberlain opened the Public Comment Period. 
 

• Dale Wagstaff said, “Its been said that what mind perceives it can achieve.  
When it comes to a tax cut, there is no difference in that statement.”  Mr. 
Wagstaff said, “Help is on the way for that tax cut.” 

 
Chairman Chamberlain said he hoped not to offend anyone in saying that he 
personally preferred for candidates in the upcoming election “not campaign to 
us.” 
 

• Jeff Morris, a county commission candidate, thanked the Board for leaving 
the option open pertaining to a possible tax cut.  Mr. Morris discussed 
revenue sources and said he hoped that healthy discussions on the issue 
would continue. 

• Tina Hall expressed appreciation for the Board’s interest in lowering the 
tax rate.  Ms. Hall said she had felt for some time that the tax rate was a 
hindrance to economic development in Rowan County.  Ms. Hall felt a 
lower tax rate was an incentive for businesses to locate in Rowan County 
and that citizens would have more money in their pockets for purchasing 
goods in Rowan County.  Ms. Hall felt in past years the County had 
earned a reputation for being a tax and spend County.   

• Commissioner Sides moved from his seat in order to face and address the 
Board as a taxpaying citizen of Rowan County.  Commissioner Sides said 
he cared about the other taxpayers in Rowan County and that they 
needed some financial relief.  Commissioner Sides said the tax decrease 
would help the “little guy as well as the big guy.”  Commissioner Sides 
said the County needed a tax cut and that there would probably never be 
a better opportunity to make that tax cut. 

• Phyllis Sides said she was a resident and taxpayer of Rowan County.  Ms. 
Sides said she was elderly and 100% disabled and she discussed the 
homestead exemption listed on the back of the tax bills.  Ms. Sides said 
the exemption is based on income and not on whether a citizen is elderly 
or disabled.  Ms. Sides said if you live in Rowan County all of your life, you 

 19



 20

should have some kind of relief when you reach a certain age.  Ms. Sides 
said she would appreciate the Board’s consideration of a tax cut. 

 
With no additional citizens wishing to address the Board, Chairman Chamberlain 
closed the Public Comment Period. 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
Commissioner Mitchell moved for the Board to enter Closed Session pursuant to 
North Carolina General Statutes Section 143-318.11 (a)(3) for the purpose of 
Attorney-Client privileged communication regarding Wilson Properties hangar. 
 
Chairman Chamberlain called for a break at 8:46 pm before entering Closed 
Session. 
 
The Board returned to Open Session at 9:02 pm and with no further business, 
Commissioner Blount moved, Commissioner Mitchell seconded and the motion 
to adjourn at 9:02 pm passed unanimously. 
 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 

    Carolyn Athey 
     Clerk to the Board 


